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INTRODUCTION

I WAS SIXTEEN YEARS OLD when I saw the movie that changed my life. During a summer vacation in which I was expected to evolve from sophomore to junior, I actually went a step further and found myself. My life-altering cinematic experience came courtesy of On a Clear Day You Can See Forever, the second-to-last directorial effort of the great Vincente Minnelli. This decidedly offbeat musical not only featured a time-traveling protagonist with paranormal powers but came complete with a poignant theme about the liberating effects of self-acceptance—a message all too eagerly received by St. Dominic Regional High School’s resident misfit.

I watched On a Clear Day over and over in the summer of 1984. I found it healing and empowering. My friends thought I had lost it. They began to look at me funny. In an era dominated by Return of the Jedi and Ferris Bueller’s Day Off, was I actually claiming to have achieved some sort of cosmic consciousness through repeated viewings of . . . a Barbra Streisand movie? It was suggested that I should try getting out more often or maybe join a rugby team . . . before it was too late. But after discovering that Village Voice critic Andrew Sarris had once referred to the object of my obsession as “an underrated masterpiece,” there was no stopping me. This high-level endorsement was the only excuse I needed to study said masterpiece with an even more attentive eye.

I was mesmerized by what Sarris had referred to as “Minnelli’s morbidly beautiful mise en scène,” and there was an unusual quality about the film that I was eager to reconnect with. Although On a Clear Day was a large and lavish major studio production, there was also something endearingly personal about it. Minnelli seemed to exhibit a genuine empathy for his heroine, who throughout the film grapples with the effects of a split self.

As I would soon discover, Daisy Gamble—the psychically gifted, identity-challenged chain-smoker at the center of On a Clear Day—was the kind of conflicted character that Vincente Minnelli had practically patented. Here was another engaging oddball to add to the director’s already impressive collection of visionaries, dreamers, artists, and outcasts. An awkward, un - assuming “go-alonger,” Daisy is so ashamed of her extrasensory abilities that she attempts to suppress this part of herself, terrified that someone will discover that she is (in her own words) “un-normal.” Besides her supernatural skills, Daisy harbors another secret—there is a more alluring, alternate identity buried within her. Several lifetimes ago, this neurotic wallflower from Mahwah, New Jersey, was Lady Melinda Tentrees, a clairvoyant noblewoman and 1814’s “It” Girl. Melinda’s captivating personality, regal bearing, and eye-popping ensembles effortlessly upstage Daisy’s modern-day existence.

After coming to terms with her previous incarnations, Daisy experiences an exhilarating moment of self-discovery: The most important person you will ever be is the one that you are right now. As she begins to blossom as vibrantly as the azaleas, peonies, and posies that have surrounded her in virtually every frame, Daisy embraces her authentic self: “On a clear day . . . rise and look around you and you’ll see who you are. . . . On a clear day, how it will astound you that the glow of your being outshines every star.” I took the message to heart. And apparently so had Minnelli. On a Clear Day had inspired me to look at myself in a very different way. The gift of self-empowerment had been bequeathed to an insecure adolescent in need of reassurance. I was beyond grateful and very curious to know more about the man behind the movie.

I had been a card-carrying Judy Garland fanatic since childhood, and because I had seen all the films in which “the world’s greatest entertainer” had been directed by her second husband, I thought I was rather well acquainted with Vincente Minnelli. Largely because of Meet Me in St. Louis, I equated his name with an unmistakable style and the kind of exquisitely crafted extravaganzas that had long ago vacated the neighborhood movie house and taken up residence on the late show. Though, as I soon learned, there was more to Minnelli than what initially dazzled the eye.

During the remainder of my summer vacation, I ravenously consumed some of the other important titles in the director’s oeuvre: The Pirate, An American in Paris, The Band Wagon, Tea and Sympathy, Gigi, and Minnelli’s tragically mutilated final film, A Matter of Time. While these movies were often boldly innovative, even ahead of their time, somehow they also felt strangely familiar. Despite the fact that almost all of these pictures had been produced long before I was born, it was as though Vincente Minnelli had somehow been eavesdropping on my dreams. No, better than that . . . he  was telling the story of my life on film, and by this point, my friends were  begging me to get out more often. Though I really didn’t care. Minnelli’s movies were taking me to important places within myself and that was all that mattered.

Eventually, I was able to see beyond my sixteen-year-old’s self-absorption and recognize that Minnelli wasn’t telling the story of my life on screen but his own. Or at least it seemed so. “My romanticism has never precluded me from my work which, in the final analysis, is the story of my life,” Minnelli observed in his 1974 memoir.1 A lifelong workaholic, the director was probably referring to the countless hours he put in on Hollywood soundstages over the years. Though I hoped that what he also meant by this was that his work actually contained the story of his life. For I purely loved the notion of Minnelli as a mild-mannered subversive who labored under the constraints of the studio system yet somehow managed to sneak autobiographical elements into his films . . . buried-treasure style.

If Minnelli’s movies are indeed autobiographies in code (and many can certainly be “read” that way), his achievement is all the more extraordinary when one considers the fact that all but three of his pictures were made during his twenty-six-year association with Metro-Goldwyn-Mayer, Hollywood’s preeminent “Dream Factory”—but a factory nonetheless. I was intrigued. Just how had Vincente managed to produce such self-reflexive and personal work while toiling away at the most conservative and lockstep of the major studios? And what exactly was the work telling us about his life?

After scrutinizing the films, I started reading everything I could about Minnelli. I was interested in what made Vincente tick, not only as an artist but as an individual, though most of the information I could find about him focused almost exclusively on his directorial achievements. Before too long, references to auteur theories, surrealism, and Cahiers du cinéma began creeping into my conversation. I learned that although Minnelli had won an Oscar in 1959 (for his direction of Gigi) and several of his titles invariably turned up on lists of the Best Films Ever Made, he was more acclaimed in Europe than he was in his own country.

I now felt very protective, almost proprietary about my favorite director, and it irked me that he was sometimes treated like a second-class citizen. Although most critics and film scholars would readily acknowledge that Vincente Minnelli was “the master of the decorative image,” they seemed reluctant (until recently) to discuss his work in the same way one would approach Orson Welles, John Ford, or Jean-Luc Godard. Why? Did Judy Garland, Technicolor, and a score by Lerner and Loewe automatically disqualify Minnelli from being taken seriously as a director?

“The curse of Vincente Minnelli is really the curse of eighty-five percent of Hollywood’s great artists,” says film scholar Jeanine Basinger:
Jerry Lewis is a great filmmaker but, you know, he just acts funny. Raoul Walsh is a great director but he just makes action and gangster films. It’s really the curse of people not taking Hollywood seriously. A lot of artists get dismissed on the basis of something like, “If it isn’t Ingmar Bergman, it can’t be good.” In some ways, people fear fantasy. They fear escapism. They’re afraid it’s trivial. And people don’t want to take film on it’s most artistic terms. They don’t want it to fly and soar and be visual and stunning. Because none of that is “serious.” All of this is reflected in the way people approach Minnelli, apologizing for him or downgrading him. . . . Say that someone is watching the dream sequence in Yolanda and the Thief and they’re easily dismissing it. Then suppose I told them that it had been directed by Fellini, would they still be so quick to dismiss it? Of course they wouldn’t.2






Whenever some shortsighted film authority attempted to write Vincente off as a glorified window dresser, I wanted to lead them (by the hand) to the nearest copy of Lust for Life. In Minnelli’s critically hailed 1956 biopic, Anthony Quinn’s Paul Gauguin lashes out at Kirk Douglas’s Vincent van Gogh. “You paint too fast!” Quinn’s fiery postimpressionist tells the mad genius. “You look too fast!” is van Gogh’s unforgettable reply. As the director’s most fervent followers have always maintained, it would appear that we’ve been looking too fast at the work of Vincente Minnelli.

For many Minnelliphiles, part of the mystique and fascination with his work is that it is so richly layered that a single film can be appreciated on many different levels. “I feel that a picture that stays with you is made up of a hundred or more hidden things,” the director once said.3 A well-dressed, thoroughly entertaining movie such as Gigi can be enjoyed as the tune-filled, sensory-rich experience that it is. Or, if one chooses to lift the ornate lid and peer inside, there are countless “hidden” elements to be discovered, including sharp-eyed social critiques, a feminist manifesto, and erudite references to great artists and their works. Oftentimes, the sumptuousness and sheer artiness of Minnelli’s presentation has tended to distract viewers from the fact that there was plenty going on beneath the elegantly appointed surface.

Though as Minnelli pointed out to interviewer Henry Sheehan, he always intended that the decorative trappings should be in service to the story: “Most people don’t realize that the décor, what [the characters] hold and the  surroundings tell an awful lot about the character. And that’s what I’m concerned with—the character.”4


From Madame Bovary to Eddie’s father, the characters in Vincente Minnelli’s films are some of the most beloved in all of cinema, which is a bit surprising when one considers the fact that they are anything but your typical Hollywood heroes. Virtually all of Minnelli’s movies are stories about unconventional individuals who find themselves at odds with the world around them simply by being who they are. Their very identity is the source of their dilemma, and these nonconformists must seek refuge in fantasy, art, or an alternate reality in order to heal themselves. From Little Joe Jackson, whose soul is caught in a tug-of-war between heaven and hell in Minnelli’s first feature, Cabin in the Sky, to Nina, an impressionable chambermaid who lives vicariously through the memories of a faded courtesan in A Matter of Time, a Minnelli character is almost always a dweller on two planets. These are people who are not only displaced but split right down the middle. Without question, this was a recurring theme that Vincente had more than a passing interest in exploring. Why? Was the duality that turned up time and again in the films reflecting some part of his own experience?

After Minnelli’s death in 1986, suggestions that the director may have had a divided life of his own began to appear in print. Along with such iconic figures as James Dean, Cary Grant, and Rudolph Valentino, Vincente Minnelli has always been a sexually suspect character. Just consider the “evidence”: Minnelli was a former window dresser and costume designer. He had an unerring eye for décor. An alleged affinity for eye liner. A romantic association with Judy Garland. In the eyes of some, Minnelli was seriously overdue for his own float in a gay pride parade.

In our postmodern, politically correct world, everything—and everybody—must be clearly marked with a very precise label. “Bisexual” is the one usually hung on Minnelli, though it was generally assumed that despite his marriages to four women (some of whom were also rumored to have been bisexual), Minnelli was a “closet case”—an essentially gay man who, due to societal conditioning and career pressures, felt compelled to marry and procreate. Denying who he really was would at least satisfy society, a politically conservative studio, and Modern Screen subscribers.

In Jon Marans’s recent play The Temperamentals, “Vincente Minnelli” appears as the physical embodiment of the closet. Marans concocted an episode in which Minnelli is approached by gay activist Harry Hay and asked to lend his support to the Mattachine Society. “I have Minnelli using this metaphor about homosexuality,” says Marans. “He talks about a woman’s  perfume and how it will lose all of its heavenly aroma once you open up the bottle. In the same way, he thinks you shouldn’t open up the bottle of homosexuality. Minnelli has this theory that ‘You should never discuss it for fear of making it mundane and letting it all out into the open.’”5


In this out and proud post-Stonewall age, it probably wouldn’t take most observers long to do the math and consign Minnelli to the closet. But then again, hadn’t some of Minnelli’s own movies, most notably Tea and Sympathy  and Designing Woman, pointed out that just because something looks one way doesn’t necessarily mean that it is that way? Was it possible that, just as people had looked “too fast” at Minnelli’s work, snap judgments had been made about him as a person? Had Vincente been stereotyped into a corner? Minnelli may have been effeminate, androgynous even, but did this automatically add up to gay? Even in our more socially conscious times, there are some observers (including an exceedingly sequined relative) who seem convinced that everyone is barking up the wrong tree.

“My sister, Liza, passionately resents the suggestion that her father had a secret gay life,” Judy Garland’s daughter, Lorna Luft, wrote in her 1998 family memoir. “The Vincente I remember had a roving eye and a weakness for beautiful women, some of whom he married. Granted, one marriage might be a cover, but three?”a Those closest to Minnelli seemed to be contradicting the frequently repeated rumors about him. Or was this denial in the first degree?

When my longtime dream of writing a Minnelli biography became a reality, I knew that my subject—while colorful and endlessly fascinating—was also a complete enigma. “Vincente Minnelli was Hollywood’s great mystery man,” Garland confidant Tucker Fleming told me. “I think he’s quite a complex figure and there have always been so many question marks about him. . . . You really have your work cut out for you.”6 Though who was I to go rummaging around in somebody else’s life? Especially when that someone had been so guarded and self-protective? Then I reread Minnelli’s 1974 autobiography,  I Remember It Well, and came to regard the title as something of a challenge. In Gigi, Maurice Chevalier croons a wistful tune by the same name, in which he misremembers some of his romantic interludes. By borrowing the title of the song, Minnelli seemed to be winking at the reader—these are the memoirs of a notoriously forgetful man. In other words, this autobiography is my version of events. What I choose to remember. The truth may be a very different story.

So I began searching for the real Vincente Minnelli. Before too long, I found myself playing a variation on “Limehouse Blues,” the celebrated sequence in Minnelli’s 1946 revue musical Ziegfeld Follies. In this indelible production number, Fred Astaire is in pursuit of Lucille Bremer—first while fully conscious and then when he’s in the midst of a delirious dream. Astaire is lured into the darkened depths of his own subconscious by the most Minnellian object imaginable—an Oriental fan. As Bremer disappears into the shadows, the fan she clutches seems self-propelled, flitting about like an unusually beautiful butterfly. Although Astaire makes several attempts to capture the fan, it’s always just out of reach. I knew exactly how Fred felt, for trying to find Minnelli was like chasing after that fan.

My subject practically defined “elusive.” Minnelli may have been a public figure, but the most important parts of his life had been locked away deep inside of himself. How do you go about finding someone who really knew a thing or two about staying hidden? Early on, I realized I wouldn’t be able to find Vincente on my own. So I organized a search party. I knew that it would be necessary to conduct as many interviews as possible and get people talking. As Vincente had been the subject of so much speculation and rumor, hearing directly from those who actually worked with or knew him would be absolutely essential. Only this posed another set of challenges that I had been warned about.

When I profiled the late screenwriter Gavin Lambert for a magazine, I mentioned that I was interested in writing about Minnelli and talking to as many of the director’s surviving colleagues as possible. Although Lambert was encouraging, he had two very succinct words of advice: “Hurry up.” How right he was. Considering that Minnelli’s first feature was released in 1943 and that his Broadway career stretched back to the early 1930s, finding people to talk to postmillennium was not going to be easy. And even if I managed to track people down, how forthcoming would some of these press-savvy Hollywood veterans be if I broached the very personal subject of Vincente’s sexuality? Even though we were living in supposedly less repressive times than Minnelli had, most of his colleagues had graduated from the MGM School of Public Relations and they were masters at deflecting uncomfortable questions.

Apprehensive yet insatiably curious, I began to move forward. During a three-year odyssey, I contacted as many Minnelli coworkers, friends, former neighbors, and true believers as I could find. Armed with an antique tape recorder and aided by an enterprising though overworked research assistant, I ended up talking to hundreds of people who were exceptionally generous in terms of sharing their memories, insights, private correspondence, and  photographs with me. Amazingly, many of the people I spoke with had never gone on record before.

There were also plenty of surprises along the way. An elderly interview subject in Delaware, Ohio (where Vincente had spent his formative years), casually mentioned Minnelli’s brother to me. Vincente Minnelli had a brother?  The detail-obsessed director had overlooked his sibling in his autobiography. Why? Another person I talked to was curious to know what I had discovered about that terrible tragedy involving Vincente’s adored Uncle Frank. The terrible tragedy. Yes, of course. What terrible tragedy? Early on, a fellow biographer had advised me to play dumb when talking to people, but it quickly became clear that no playing would be necessary. Just because I had seen  The Sandpiper more times than was psychologically advisable didn’t mean that I really knew anything about the man who had created it.

Some people were dying to tell me Minnelli stories, having saved up revealing anecdotes for nearly seventy years. Others played it close to the vest, choosing their words with almost excruciating caution. And more than a few people attempted to steer the conversation away from Minnelli, preferring to discuss Judy Garland, the weather, or their own careers (one veteran actress took the opportunity to pitch me the story of what she hoped would be her comeback vehicle—the saga of a centerfold-turned-mafia-wife).

In conducting research, I asked a thousand different questions, though virtually everyone I spoke to had the same one for me: “So, have you talked to Liza?” The answer, unfortunately, was no—though an attempt was made. After all, many of my interview subjects had stressed how unique and endearing the bond had been between father and daughter. If anyone really knew Vincente Minnelli, they knew his bond was his pride and joy. And over the years, the high-octane headliner has done an admirable job in terms of celebrating her father’s cinematic legacy (including two helpings of Minnelli on Minnelli, a televised tribute in 1987 and a Palace Theater stage show in 1999). Nevertheless, I wasn’t at all surprised that she did not consent to be interviewed. Although Liza obviously adored her father—and she remains one of his most devoted champions—she has been unwilling to either acknowledge or explore some of the complexities of his life. Despite several efforts, I was unable to contact Vincente’s other daughter, Tina Nina Minnelli. This was another disappointment as I’m sure she has a compelling story to tell, and one very different from her famous sister. Thankfully, many people were willing to talk.

I found that often the most challenging interviews proved to be the most rewarding. Nina Foch, who appeared in Minnelli’s classic An American in Paris, bristled at some of my questions about the film, but she turned quietly  reflective and almost melancholy when I asked what her director was like as a human being:
I don’t really know where his private life was but I think it was very complicated. He was not at all the kind of person to be very forthcoming about his private life but I remember I was in his study one day and I spotted this set of drawings that Vincente had done. One of them really caught my eye. I said, “I love that. Give that to me.” It was just something that came off his sketch pad but it was really beautiful. But also, if you looked at it long enough, you could see that he was a very complicated soul. I remember thinking, we may be friends but I really don’t know Vincente at all. . . . I wonder if anybody really did.7






Taking everything into account—the enigma of Vincente Minnelli as both an individual and an artist, his unconventional upbringing, an ambiguous sexuality, a show-business career that afforded him the opportunity to work with everyone from Josephine Baker to Jack Nicholson, long-concealed family secrets, and no less than Judy Garland and Liza Minnelli as supporting players—it’s truly astounding that Minnelli’s story has received so little attention.

Film historian and Minnelli disciple George Feltenstein has made some attempts to rectify this. Feltenstein has long wanted to produce a documentary that would explore the director’s life and career. But when he presented his ideas to some documentarians, he found that his enthusiasm was met with an inexplicable indifference: “I remember that the filmmakers’ objection was, ‘Well, there’s no story there.’ I said, ‘What do you mean there’s no story there? There’s an amazing story there. . . . The story of his life is in his films.’  You know, Judy Garland had that lyric that Roger Edens wrote for her, ‘The history of my life is in my songs. . . .’ Well, the history of Minnelli’s life is in his films. And when you look at all those films, you see the pained artist, the passionate romantic. All of those things. How is it people cannot see this?”8  Looking too fast, yet again.

In some ways, this project is a thank-you note that’s been twenty-five years in the making. So many summers ago, Vincente Minnelli’s message of hope and encouragement managed to find a restless teenager stashed away in Lewiston, Maine. And the inspirational effects of Minnelli’s movies helped an unconfident young man return to St. Dominic Regional High School with head held high. I’d like to believe that in seeking the truth about my subject and attempting to present him as a complete person, that I’m belatedly returning the favor. For as I had been told many years ago, to see yourself is to see forever.
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Lester Minnelli’s yearbook photo, Willis High School, 1921. PHOTO COURTESY OF BRENT CARSON (PHOTOGRAPHER UNKNOWN)





1

Delaware Days

THERE WAS SOMETHING ABOUT THAT YEAR . . . 1903. It seemed too turn-of-the-century and antiquated, so later on, he would tell people that he was born in 1907, which sounded more modern and Jazz Age. In the best show-business tradition, shaving a few years off his age would make his talents seem all the more remarkable, coming from one “so young.”

The name on the Chicago birth certificate read “Lester Anthony Minnelli,” though that would change, too. Just as 1903 would be abandoned in favor of 1907, the name Lester would eventually give way to “Vincente,” which had a more artistic ring to it. Right from the start, reality needed to be improved upon. Painted over. “The biographer of his early years is hard put to sift fact from legend,” S. J. Perelman would write of Minnelli in 1937. Though who needed facts when you could slap a couple of coats of illusion over the unvarnished truth and create a little magic? Doing so seemed perfectly natural, as everybody in Lester Minnelli’s life was in the business of make-believe. “Vincente grew up in an atmosphere of grease paint and foot-lights,” his father once told a reporter. At least this much was true.1


In either 1900 or 1902—depending on who was doing the remembering—Lester’s father, Vincent Charles (better known as V.C.), and Uncle Frank (better known as F.P.) formed what was originally called the Minnelli Brothers Mighty Dramatic Company Under Canvas. Despite the epically proportioned name, it was a modestly budgeted traveling theater company with ten actors and about twenty crew members. “We demand ability, wardrobe, appearance and sobriety,” the Minnelli Brothers announced to prospective performers. In return, actors were guaranteed respectable treatment, a long season, and “tickets from Hong Kong, if you are what we want.”2 While it wasn’t the Ziegfeld Follies, it wasn’t peddling snake oil either.
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Lester’s father, Vincent Charles (V.C.) Minnelli in 1938. Along with his brother Frank, V.C. managed the Minnelli Brothers. Mighty Dramatic Company Under Canvas, which brought musicals and melodramas to Midwestern towns. PHOTO COURTESY OF LYNN RAMEY (PHOTOGRAPHER UNKNOWN)

Barnstorming across central and northern Ohio, Indiana, and Illinois, the Minnelli Brothers brought musicals, melodramas, and the occasional minstrel show to towns with names like Sandusky, Chillicothe, and Zanesville. They performed under canvas, usually in vacant lots, promising patrons that “the big tent will positively not leak, so a performance will be given, rain or shine.”3


A Minnelli Brothers production was billed as “a good, clean attraction with so small an admission that it will never be missed.”4 In fact, for as little as a dime, one could see the Minnellis’ “suburbanized versions” of such venerable stage melodramas as Saintly Hypocrites and Honest Sinners or Mrs. Wiggs of the Cabbage Patch (though all of the characters were renamed and some of the plot elements camouflaged so that the Minnelli Brothers could avoid paying hefty royalties to the playwrights).

The stately V.C. would serve as the company’s musical director, accompanist, and composer of original songs.b Though it was Lester’s beloved Uncle Frank who handled the logistics and hit upon the idea of creating what was essentially a “portable theatre.” With their equipment in tow, the Minnelli Brothers could pitch their tent in any town, even if it didn’t offer a venue spacious enough to accommodate the large audience needed to turn a profit. Ever the industrious impresarios, the Minnelli boys came equipped with their own electric-light plant, folding chairs (for reserved seats), and bleachers (for general admission). If all that wasn’t enough, the Mighty Dramatic Company could even deliver a vivacious star who had once graced the Broadway stage.
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Lester’s mother, Mina Le Beau, in 1938. In her touring days, she performed under the stage name Mina Gennell and the press dubbed her “The Dresden China Doll.” PHOTO COURTESY OF BRENT CARSON (PHOTOGRAPHER UNKNOWN)

Lester’s mother, Mina Le Beau, had adopted the stage name Mina Gennell and had won acclaim as an actress in productions in Chicago (where her family had settled).c While appearing on the bill of a Charles A. Loder revue, Mina met V. C. Minnelli. It was anything but love at first sight, as almost immediately, the star and her musical director clashed over her accompaniment. Eventually the smoke cleared and the leading lady found herself attracted to this ambitious, obstinate Italian American, who knew his way around a tune and how to charm everyone into doing things his way.

In November 1894, V.C. and Mina were married in Chicago. To those who followed her career as a high-spirited soubrette, Mina seemed to be sacrificing a bright future on the Broadway stage in favor of marriage. Though she didn’t seem to mind. “Mother definitely lacked an emotional affinity for the theatre,” Vincente Minnelli would observe. “Though she was well on her way to becoming a star—acting was just a living to her.”5


Despite her ambivalence to the theatrical profession, “The Dresden China Doll” (as Mina had been dubbed by the press) would appear in countless Minnelli Brothers specialties, including A Tom Boy Girl, Tess of the Storm Country, and The Girl of the Golden West.6 Though legitimately talented, Mina harbored few illusions about the theater, having survived the inhumane demands of performing fifteen shows a day at one point in her career. By the time she became the leading light of her husband’s company, “The Dainty Star” had seen it all.

A publicity photograph of Mina as Lady Babbie in The Little Minister  speaks volumes.7 The image reveals a diminutive woman with unusually large, haunting eyes. There is no attempt to “turn on” for the camera. The absence of personality is all the more surprising when one remembers that this is the grandmother of the most animated performer of all time, Liza Minnelli. In later years, Lester would remember his mother as a “simple” woman who “blossomed” on stage. Though, as Lady Babbie, Mina is decidedly unglamorous, and her slight look of peeve suggests that she might find greater fulfillment scrubbing the pantry than stealing an extra bow. I’d rather be anywhere but here, her expression seems to be saying.

A year after their marriage, the Minnellis prepared to welcome their first child, but what should have been a joyous occasion would have a tragic outcome. “Before I was born, twin brothers had been carried off by mysterious childhood diseases endemic to the times,” Vincente Minnelli would write in his ironically titled memoir, I Remember It Well. “Another brother named Willie . . . died when I was an infant. Little wonder that mother was overprotective of me, her last surviving son.”8 While it makes for a poignant story (in the best melodramatic tradition), Vincente’s version of events is incorrect.

Between 1895 and mid-1900, Mina reportedly gave birth to five children, but only one survived to greet the new era. In August 1895, a set of twins was delivered: William Francis Minnelli and an unnamed sibling (referred to only as “Baby Minnelli” in interment records) who either arrived stillborn or succumbed shortly after birth. At the age of two years and five months, William would die of diphtheria in January 1898, some five years before  Lester was born. In April 1897, one-month-old Vincent C. Minnelli died of “cholera infantum.” Other than a scrawled number on the 1900 Federal Census report, no information has emerged about another Minnelli infant, more than likely stillborn or surviving only a few hours.
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Lester Minnelli’s brother, Paul (right), with his Delaware neighbors Lynn (left) and Marcia Ramey. In later years, whenever interviewers broached the subject of siblings with Hollywood’s Vincente Minnelli, elder brother Paul would vanish from the family tree. PHOTO COURTESY OF LYNN RAMEY (PHOTOGRAPHER UNKNOWN)

In later years, Vincente Minnelli would freely admit that he was “notoriously poor” at recalling names, dates, and details. Though in the case of his own siblings, the forgetfulness seems rather deliberate. For Lester was not, in fact, his mother’s “last surviving son.” There was an older brother, born in September 1899 in Chicago, who not only survived infancy but lived to the age of sixty, and his name was Paul.

After contracting meningitis as an infant, Paul Felix Minnelli would struggle with what would now be termed developmental disabilities. “Mrs. Minnelli told my mother that Paul was seven years old before he could say, ‘Mama.’ That was the first word,” recalled the Reverend Lynn Ramey, who grew up next door to the Minnellis.9 Paul was living with his disability in an era that was less than enlightened about his condition. When he was twenty, the Minnellis’ eldest son would be certified as “feeble-minded” by state authorities.d


In later years, whenever interviewers broached the subject of siblings with Hollywood’s Vincente Minnelli, elder brother Paul would vanish from the family tree.e With rare exceptions: In 1937, Alice Hughes wrote a New York American profile of Vincente and observed, “He makes no attempt to entice his younger brother to the big city, away from his home town, which is Delaware, Ohio.”10 While Hughes misidentified Paul as a younger brother, it is one of the few instances where an article about Vincente Minnelli makes some reference to his otherwise unacknowledged sibling.

As Paul turned three and a half and his disabilities were becoming more apparent, Mina discovered that she was expecting again. The baby would arrive in February. In the theater, the winter months were known as the “lean season,” as engagements were harder to come by, especially for traveling players. Sure enough, as they awaited the arrival of their fifth child, Mina and V.C. found themselves engaged by different theater companies. Mina continued performing—as a visibly pregnant ingénue—until the latest possible moment. When she could hold out no longer, she retreated to her mother’s house. On February 28, 1903, Lester Minnelli made his debut in Chicago. Years later, there would be an enormously successful return engagement.
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AS SOON AS LESTER WAS OLD ENOUGH, his parents worked him into the act. “I played the children’s parts whenever there were any to play,” he recalled. It was Lester’s unforgettable performance in the Minnelli Brothers’ production of the creaky melodrama East Lynne that sealed his fate as an actor. Five-year-old Lester was playing “Little Willie,” who dies in his mother’s arms during the play’s overwrought climax. Mina, in character as the distraught mother, clutched her son’s “lifeless” body and exclaimed, “Gone! And never called me mother!” Mistaking his mother’s dramatically charged portrayal for real life anguish, Lester suddenly sprang back to life and did his best to reassure a thoroughly embarrassed Mina that he was still among the living. “No Mama. I’m not dead. I was acting,” Lester announced as the audience roared.11


“Acting never appealed to him,” V. C. Minnelli would later say of his son’s early retirement from the spotlight. “He was a quiet boy and [he] would  sit in the dressing tent and watch the men make up. Before the season was over, the cast would not go on without Vincente’s o.k. of their make-up. If he said, ‘Eyebrows too black’ or ‘Not enough red,’ the change was made to suit him.”12


At a very young age, Lester began displaying some legitimate artistic talent. It wasn’t long before his doodles morphed into designs. As Minnelli would recall years later, “The fact that my father and uncle owned the show made it possible for me, at an early age, to make suggestions for settings and costumes. . . . My proudest moment was when my mother wore a costume that was made up of about 75 percent from my rough design and suggestions. It was this early triumph which probably influenced my entire career.”13
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WHEN THE MINNELLIS WEREN’T OUT bringing culture to the provinces or getting on or off a Pullman car, their home base (and winter headquarters) was Delaware, Ohio. Smack dab in the center of the state, Delaware was the birthplace of the nineteenth president of the United States, Rutherford B. Hayes, and the home of Ohio Wesleyan University.

“When the Minnellis came to Delaware, they didn’t have very much money and of course, they were trying to find a place to stay,” recalls family friend Anne Dinovo.14 “So, my father offered that they could stay in a house he had on Park Avenue until they found their own place. Well, they never found a place. They lived in the house my father owned—free of charge—for many, many years. . . . They had a lot of courage but very little money. But the whole world was a stage to that family. . . . The father was always dressed like the jack of diamonds and I don’t think he had a dime in his pocket, poor guy.”f


When Lester was five, the Journal-Herald of Delaware announced the Minnelli Brothers Farewell Tour: “Regardless of the so-called hard times . . . Minnelli Bros. are making great preparations for the coming season.” V.C. did his best to put a positive spin on what appeared to be his swan song as an impresario, telling a local reporter, “If hard work, excellence and ‘the goods’ count, that should make 1908 our banner year.”15 The reports of the company’s imminent demise proved to be premature. Although the Minnelli Brothers managed to press on for a number of years, there were indeed hard times ahead.

A fire destroyed their entire operation at one point, necessitating a $10,000 reconstruction effort. Neighbors in Delaware also remembered that the Mighty Dramatic Company was sidelined by the Great Flood of 1913. Although the Minnellis survived these setbacks, even they were no match for a new-fangled invention that was proving to be more of a legitimate threat than a passing fancy. As Vincente remembered it, “Motion pictures had finally done the theatre in. The movies started to be good and more or less killed the tent show business.”16 Decades later, when he received his Best Director Oscar for Gigi, Vincente Minnelli was all too aware of the supreme irony: The same film industry that had awarded him its highest honor had put his father out of business.

For V.C., folding up the tent in many ways represented the collapse of the dream. “Father wasn’t happy about the development,”17 Lester would say of the derailment of the elder Minnelli’s career on the road, though Mina seemed to relish the fact that her touring days were finally over. She would embrace her latest role as full-time mother and housewife with the kind of wholehearted enthusiasm that had been missing from some of her tent theater appearances. Besides, the Minnellis weren’t out of the business altogether. They would eventually open their own studio in Delaware and teach young ladies, such as Dorothy Florance, how to dance: “Mrs. Minnelli had a cane that she walked with and boy, she’d crack your legs with that cane if your pointe work wasn’t proper,” Florance recalled. “A nice little lady but a very strict teacher.”18
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AS LESTER GREW UP, there was agreement from all corners that he was anything but your typical son of Delaware. From an early age, the budding artist found it necessary to piece together an impenetrable private universe from whatever bits of the fantastic he managed to find in the everyday. “I had learned to recycle my experiences in real life and apply them to my creative endeavors,” Minnelli said.19


If his days in Delaware happened to be uneventful or unkind, Lester’s glittering inner world was always waiting. Real life—with its Catholic guilt, strict discipline, and feelings that never seemed to fit—could always give way to an alternate universe, one that was fantastic, exotic, and drenched in color. A daydreamer without equal, he’d imagine himself carousing in Rudyard Kipling’s barracks or sailing aboard a pirate ship bound for the Spanish Main. Or he might spend an afternoon sketching in his father’s chicken coop. Despite the cackling and rustling of feathers, the relative solitude and sanctuary he found there formed what Minnelli would later refer to as “my  first studio.” Or, when he felt more sociable, he might gather a few friends together and stage a not-so-amateur theatrical in a neighbor’s barn, which he had decorated with a skull and crossbones.

For the most part, V.C. seemed to encourage his son’s creativity, though Lester’s artistic flair may have also churned up some unsettled feelings in the elder Minnelli. “My father treated me with a grave courtesy, perhaps regretful that his son was so socially timid,” Vincente would recall decades later.20 Lester’s timidity was one thing, though far more disconcerting to V.C. was his son’s undeniable effeminacy. In a pre-politically correct era, having fathered one child who had been branded “feeble-minded” and another who seemed unusually sensitive must have been discouraging to a man as proud as V. C. Minnelli.

Having survived tough crowds and unforgiving critics, V.C. was somewhat unyielding where Lester’s creative endeavors were concerned. “It’s good . . . but it isn’t up to your usual standard,” V.C. would remark when presented with his son’s latest chicken-coop masterpiece. The seeds of Vincente Minnelli’s legendary perfectionism were sown in Delaware. Taking his cue from V.C., Lester would confront his own reflection in the mirror: “Here you are, nine years old, and what have you done? You’re nothing . . . nothing but a failure.”21


As there would always be an emotional distance between father and son, and Paul was unable to keep up with his younger brother’s spectacular flights of fancy, Lester bonded with his Uncle Frank. “He was flashier than Dad, and more current,” Lester would say of the flamboyant uncle who introduced him to the bright lights beyond Delaware through loaned copies of Life magazine or Snappy Stories.22 Frank regaled his nephew with backstage anecdotes, and Lester would inundate his uncle with questions about everything pertaining to show business.

Lester’s strict Catholic upbringing and the years he’d spent touring in the company of adults had matured him beyond his years, making him seem unusually serious for a youngster. “He was very nice, very quiet and very reserved for a child,” recalls Margaret Brawley, who attended St. Mary’s Parochial School with Lester. Brawley remembers that during the holidays, the nuns would encourage Lester to put his unique talents to good use. “Vincente used to come around—he was probably in the sixth or seventh grade—and he’d go up to the blackboard and draw pictures. . . . We weren’t allowed to touch them or erase them because they were just perfect.” Lester’s artistic abilities won him the kind of positive attention that he was not otherwise awarded from his peers. “The sisters and students just clamored around him,” says Brawley, describing a scene that could have been lifted directly from Minnelli’s cult musical Yolanda and the Thief, in which a convent’s star pupil is singled out for special attention.23
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Some early evidence of Lester’s artistic flair. ILLUSTRATION COURTESY OF BRENT CARSON

John Hanrahan was one of Lester’s boyhood friends. “He just knew that Minnelli was going to be somebody great and important,” Bill Hanrahan says of his father’s friendship with the future director. “He said there was just something about Vincente Minnelli—even as a child—where you just knew he was going to be big time.”24


Others remember that Lester was regularly teased and bullied in school. Some of this may have been attributable to “The Minnelli Gallery” of twitches, facial tics, and lip pursings—nervous habits that would become more pronounced over time—though the taunting young Lester received in school probably had more to do with his effeminacy than anything else. “He was quite flamboyant,” says Delaware historian Brent Carson. “He was very theatrical acting at times—even when he wasn’t acting. I think that during his early years, he was probably made fun of.”25 Lester’s preference for playacting and drawing over fishing and football also led neighbors to make certain assumptions.
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The Minnellis: V.C., Paul, and Mina at home on London Road in Delaware, Ohio. Lester had already moved on to the bright lights of Broadway. PHOTO COURTESY OF BARBARA BUTLER (PHOTOGRAPHER UNKNOWN)

“I think he was gay,” says Delaware native Virginia Barber, whose father, Robert Stimmel, was a childhood friend of Lester Minnelli’s. “Of course, in those days, people never mentioned anything about that. You just didn’t back then. There were two words I never heard growing up here. One of them was ‘gay’ and the other one was ‘Jew.’”26


The Minnellis’ Catholicism, Paul’s disabilities, Uncle Frank’s flamboyance, Lester’s effeminacy, and the fact that the Minnellis were “theater people”—all of this resulted in an alienating effect in the small-town confines of Delaware, Ohio. True, the Minnellis were well liked within the community, even admired, but just the same they would forever be viewed as somehow apart. Lester especially would feel the full impact of being branded “different.”

As the adolescent Lester was considered reserved and sensitive, it is curious that the editors of his high school yearbook would honor him with an epithet like “From the crown of his head to the soul of his foot, he is all mirth.”27 Though, as Minnelli noted years later, “My timidity began to leave me during that last year at Willis High School.” Surrounded by students from what he would later describe as “Delaware’s middle class,” Lester finally loosened up.28 Minnelli’s thoughts on the latest Adolphe Menjou picture or his references to Modigliani were no longer met with blank stares. His jokes—no matter how Noel Coward-ish in tone—landed. The year at Willis seemed to fly by, with Lester stopping the show as the malevolent “Dick Deadeye” in the Boys’ and Girls’ Glee Club production of Gilbert and Sullivan’s  H.M.S. Pinafore.
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Lester Minnelli steals the show as the malevolent “Deadeye Dick” in the Glee Club’s production of Gilbert and Sullivan’s H.M.S. Pinafore. PHOTO COURTESY OF BRENT CARSON (PHOTOGRAPHER UNKNOWN)

Just as Lester was beginning to blossom, graduation day arrived. As Minnelli received his diploma, it was with the knowledge that many of his friends would be heading off to Ohio Wesleyan in the fall. Lester would not be among the incoming freshmen. “I don’t know what I would have studied in college but the idea of going was ingrained in me,” Minnelli remembered. “I saw all the kids in high school were going and I was very disappointed that I didn’t have the money to go to college.”29 The modest income that V.C. and Mina earned from teaching dance to Delaware’s aspiring Isadoras was enough to keep the family afloat but not to send Lester off to campus.

In August 1921, only months after Lester received his high school diploma, a family tragedy would further taint what should have been a carefree  period for the recent graduate. As the Delaware Daily Journal Herald reported: “Mr. Frank P. Minnelli, aged 51 years, one of the best known theatrical men in Ohio, took his own life by firing two 32 caliber revolver bullets through his body as he stood in the Pennsylvania Railroad yards.” Frank left behind a letter addressed to his wife and brother that read: “Untold suffering has justified my act, good-bye.”30


It was a heartbreaking end for Lester’s adored Uncle Frank, whom the  Delaware Journal reported had been “mentally unbalanced by illness.” The papers attributed Frank Minnelli’s severe depression to a year-long battle with “dropsy and heart trouble.” Though at least one friend of the family was more matter of fact: “As for Frank, he hit the skids,” recalled Dorothy Eveland. “He became a drunkard and a penniless bum. His body was found one morning in a Delaware railroad yard. A very sad end.”31 Though it was devastating to Lester, Uncle Frank’s suicide may have also provided his nephew with the motivation he needed to launch himself.

After Minnelli became famous, newspaper profiles would suggest that it was around this time that Lester “secretly planned a campaign” to leave Delaware and pursue his artistic ambitions in the big city. New York was his first choice, but he’d settle for Chicago if necessary. Of course, the big move required money. “I think the first job he ever had in Delaware, my father gave him,” says Barbara Butler. “My father owned a confectionary and Lester was hired to work there. As the story goes, Lester was carrying this tray up the stairs one day and he dropped it and everything spilled all over. My father was unhappy with him and fired him. Mrs. Minnelli asked if my father would take him back as they were in very poor circumstances at that time. So, Lester came back for awhile.”32 One job lead to another. He worked in an angler’s shop, painting artificial fishing flies. He created the advertising curtain for the local movie house. Finally, he had saved up enough to put his “secret campaign” into action.
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Window Dressing the World

MINNELLI SAID GOODBYE to Delaware and, true to his word, never looked back.g It was on to Chicago—and in the midst of the Roaring ’20s, no less. That “toddling town” was teeming with activity, anarchists, and bathtub gin. Al Capone was at large. The Daily Tribune headlines blared all the latest: “$22,000 to Fight Booze,” “To Uphold Law in Scopes Trial, Prayers Go On,” “Bandits Bind Miss Bingham, Steal $1,500.” Amid Chicago’s speakeasies, nightclubs, bookie joints, and brothels, Minnelli absorbed what he described as the city’s “raucous vitality.”1 It was certainly a far cry from the well-mannered tranquility of Delaware, Ohio.

Fortunately, Lester wasn’t alone in the big city. Upon his arrival, he moved in with his Grandmother Le Beau (Mina’s mother) and his Aunt Amy,h a former trapeze artist who had toured on the vaudeville circuit. Their modest house at 1220 West Polk Street was near Notre Dame de Chicago, where Grandmother Le Beau and Aunt Amy would faithfully attend early Mass and listen to the sermons offered by the Fathers of the Blessed Sacrament. But not Lester, who by this time admitted “falling out” as a practicing Catholic. His mind was on more worldly matters—namely finding a job.

With his artist’s portfolio tucked under his arm, Lester embarked on a job search, which abruptly ended when he was “seduced” by a spectacular  Florentine-style window display at Marshall Field. After inquiring about employment opportunities at the store, Lester was led to the top floor office and introduced to one Arthur Valair Fraser,i Marshall Field’s display director. An innovative force in the world of window display, Fraser had combined papier-mâché and wax figures to create what would ultimately evolve into the department-store mannequin. After examining Lester’s watercolors, “The King of Display” (as Fraser was known) hired him on the spot. With one fortuitous visit, Minnelli had gone from the ranks of the unemployed to Mr. Fraser’s fourth apprentice. It was the best kind of window shopping.

Lester and his fellow trimmers had their work cut out for them. As the Midwest’s largest department store, Marshall Field featured sixty-seven windows in need of dressing. The store’s meticulously designed window displays were unequaled and the envy of other retailers. Although Lester was disappointed that his new position didn’t allow him to be as creative as he’d hoped, it was at Marshall Field that “the Minnelli Touch” was born. The future director would discover which combination of colors pleased the eye, how the trappings surrounding a subject were just as important as the subject itself, and that even the smallest details enhanced the big picture. As Minnelli would later strive “to bring the sleek lines of modernism into the theater,” he hoped to take Marshall Field’s “excellent windows into the twentieth century.”  2 But for the moment, Lester’s greatest challenge involved deciding which tie went best with which display model suit.

Fifty years after working at Marshall Field, Minnelli would write about the experience in the telegraphic notes for his autobiography. “Don’t think anyone gay in the window dressing department,” he mused. In the published version of his memoir, he assured readers that his fellow display men “were all married and raising families.”3 While this may be true, Minnelli seemed eager to distance himself from anything that smacked of the homoerotic, including the traditionally gay milieu of window dressing. Perhaps the need to publicly distance himself had something to do with the fact that during his years in Chicago, Minnelli almost certainly embarked on a relationship with another man—one named Lester Gaba.

“Lester always maintained that he had some kind of dalliance or liaison with Minnelli,” says designer Morton Myles, who knew Lester Gaba when both resided on Fire Island. “I can’t say yes or no for certain, but he always alluded to the fact that they had an affair. . . . It may have started as a trick and then turned into a friendship. Anything is possible. But on the other hand, Lester was known to embroider quite a bit. I mean, there wasn’t a New York City taxi driver that he didn’t have when he was short on change for the fare.”4
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Lester Gaba’s Hannibal High School yearbook photo from 1924 (when he was still known as “Abe”). “Lester always maintained that he had some kind of dalliance or liaison with Minnelli,” says designer Morton Myles, who befriended Gaba in his later years. PHOTO COURTESY OF STEVE CHOU

While it’s been said that opposites attract, Minnelli and Gaba could not have been more similar. There was the uncanny coincidence of their first names (though Gaba’s real first name was “Abe,” and it’s unclear when he started calling himself “Lester”). In terms of their physical appearance, there was more than a passing resemblance between the two. Like Minnelli, Gaba was from middle America (Hannibal, Missouri), and he, too, had left his hometown while still a teenager. Landing in Chicago, Gaba worked at Marshall Field as an errand boy, though the two Lesters most likely met when both were working for Balaban and Katz, where Minnelli designed costumes and Gaba designed promotional posters.

Gaba had the same need to express himself visually that Minnelli did. Both were constantly window dressing the world and transforming the everyday into something far more enchanting. As Gaba recalled, “As soon as I was old enough to make a crepe paper rose, I began to help my father trim the windows of his clothing store in Hannibal. And it’s probably the best experience I ever had.”5 Gaba could sketch almost as well as Minnelli, but it was his whimsical soap sculptures—southern belles and white knights carved out of ordinary bars of Ivory that won him the most attention. A decade after their friendship—or affair, as the case may be—blossomed in Chicago, Minnelli and Gaba would resume their relationship in New York. Through it all, Minnelli remained devoted to his one true love—his career.  Lester Gaba told Esquire’s Hugh Troy that he had “never met a creative person whose mind is so inseparable from his work, and who is so willing to sacrifice everything—amusement, friends, and self—to achieve his ambitions as is Minnelli.”6
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DESPITE MINNELLI’S GRUELING WORK SCHEDULE at Marshall Field, he somehow managed to find time to attend recreational education classes at the School of the Art Institute of Chicago.j “I went to the life classes a couple of times but couldn’t keep it up because I was working,” Minnelli recalled years later.7 Encouraged by the positive response he had received for his acting forays back in Delaware, Lester gave performing another try, appearing in an amateur production of Eugene O’Neill’s Where the Cross is Made at the Radical Playhouse.

He also regularly attended the theater, but never as just another passive spectator. Throughout a performance, Lester was continuously busy, creating what he would later refer to as “memory sketches” of the incandescent stars on stage, including showstoppers such as Ina Claire and Mary Nash. Encouraged by friends, Minnelli began selling his memory sketches backstage for $10 ($15 if the purchaser was especially well dressed). Oftentimes he was able to make direct sales to the actors whose likenesses he had captured, including some of his future collaborators, such as Fanny Brice and Ethel Barrymore. One evening, after the curtain fell, Lester met professional photographer Paul Stone backstage. Stone took notice of Minnelli’s work and was immediately impressed. “If you can do that, you can learn to photograph,” Stone told Lester. When the photographer offered Minnelli more money than he was earning at Marshall Field, he had no choice but to agree. It was time to get behind the camera.

Paul Stone snapped theatrical luminaries, society matrons, wedding parties—and, when nobody was looking, male nudes.k Lester Minnelli proved to be a characteristically quick study, though he lacked Stone’s finesse in dealing with the celebrities and high-society types who streamed into the photographer’s Raymor Studio, which happened to be across the street from Marshall Field.

Minnelli would remember Stone as a “high strung, nervous type” who suffered a breakdown only a few months after Lester began working for him.8  During Stone’s extended absence, it fell to Minnelli to photograph the likes of actress Ina Claire.l Lester was so bashful shooting a star that he worshipped that he hid behind the camera, quaking. Social unease aside, Paul Stone’s studio was beneficial for Minnelli, as it furthered the education that had begun in Mr. Fraser’s window-display department at Marshall Field. Lester learned how important lighting was in terms of creating the proper mood; he discovered that he had a knack for presenting subjects so that they appeared utterly glamorous yet perfectly natural. After agreeing to photograph a determined leading lady from her “best side,” Lester would sweet-talk her into trying a different angle. Almost always, Minnelli’s way proved to be the more visually arresting.

There may have been a different kind of education taking place at Stone’s studio as well. With a parade of handsome, well-built young men stopping in to be photographed with their clothes off, it’s possible that Raymor Studio was something of gay sanctuary. In fact, in a deleted passage from his autobiography, Minnelli noted, “Paul Stone’s assistant gay—didn’t have much to do with him.”9 Was it Minnelli’s strict Catholic upbringing that wouldn’t allow him to have “much to do” with Stone’s unnamed gay assistant? Or was it the fact that by the early ’70s, when Minnelli was preparing his memoir, he had a vested interest in presenting himself as the exclusively heterosexual father of superstar Liza Minnelli?

Minnelli’s remark is curious—and all the more so as it was while he was working in Stone’s studio that he began to pattern himself after the most colorful fop of them all—James McNeill Whistler. In later years, Lester would tell the story of discovering his idol in one of two ways: A Raymor Studio sitter left behind a copy of E. R. and J. Pennell’s biography of the flamboyant painter and Minnelli was instantly smitten, or he happened into an art gallery one Sunday afternoon and was taken with the Whistlers up on the wall. Whichever way it went, Minnelli latched on to Whistler’s story as though it were the modern-day dandy’s guide to life. Lester no doubt recognized something of himself in descriptions of Whistler being “absorbed in his work when that work was in any way related to art.” Whistler’s life story so completely captured Lester’s imagination that he began to emulate the artist’s dandified ways—from his ostentatious style of dress to his reverence for color, which Whistler once described as “the most magnificent mistress possible.”10


A master of self-invention, Whistler’s story pointed the way to Minnelli’s own personal transformation. For it was in Chicago that Lester Minnelli became Vincente Minnelli. At first, he used his father’s name, “Vincent C.,” before deciding to add the final “e” to his first name for a touch of sophistication and old world elegance. “Vincente Minnelli” said man of the world. Artist. Aesthete. The name change signaled a whole new beginning. Lester from Delaware simply ceased to exist.

It was yet another example of how Minnelli and his companion Lester Gaba were on the same wavelength. “Lester Gaba wanted you to believe that he was a genie born out of a bottle in midtown Manhattan,” says Morton Myles. “He didn’t like any allusions to Hannibal, Missouri. If someone appeared who knew him from his early days in Chicago, they got very short shrift. If someone brought up Chicago, you never saw that person again in his presence. . . . He invented himself as a New York character. It probably was the same with Minnelli.”11


In the midst of transforming himself, Vincente suddenly found his surroundings uninspiring. “I yearned to be a participant like Whistler instead of a spectator, and I was itching to move on,” Minnelli recalled of his later years in Chicago. 12 The same kind of driving ambition that had propelled a teenager out of Delaware, Ohio, now brought him through the doors of the opulent Chicago Theatre. Once again, Minnelli would exhibit his portfolio (which now included photos of glamorous stars he had snapped at Stone’s studio) and find that it met with immediate approval.

Frank Cambria was director of productions for Balaban and Katz, the Chicago-based theater chain that presented live stage shows between screenings of feature films. Cambria introduced Minnelli to A. J. Balaban, who was impressed not only with Vincente’s portfolio but with the young man’s gumption. Although Vincente couldn’t sew a stitch, that didn’t stop him from pitching himself as the head costumer for Balaban and Katz’s nonexistent wardrobe department, promising to enhance their live shows with “a custom touch.” He was hired. Although initially billed as “Creator of Costumes,” Minnelli would eventually design sets for a number of Balaban and Katz extravaganzas as well.

“The Balabans didn’t have access to the best movies because they were latecomers to the scene in Chicago,” says David Balaban, whose great uncle, A. J. Balaban, ran the family business with an awe-inspiring military precision:There were already other chains that operated many more theaters than the Balabans. So, Balaban and Katz had to come up with another way to attract people to their theaters. The way they did that was through opulent architecture,  air-conditioned theaters, and through the design of these stage shows which were a combination of vaudeville, musical revues, and very highbrow classical music. . . . They were marketing themselves as the premier quality place to see a show. . . . That was the atmosphere that Vincente Minnelli was thrown into.13





The live portion of the Balaban and Katz weekly spectacular rotated among several theaters in the Chicago area, and Minnelli made the rounds along with the sets and costumes. “The time that Minnelli was with Balaban and Katz was a very formative period,” says David Balaban. “It formed the foundation for a lot of his aesthetic beliefs because he had a lot of freedom to basically create these shows from scratch. . . . It would have been the best kind of training for being a director.”14


In 1928, Balaban and Katz merged with the motion-picture chain Paramount-Publix. This corporate marriage would have a life-altering impact on Minnelli. At first, his employers would only occasionally dispatch an all-too-happy-to-oblige Vincente to their flagship theater, the New York Paramount. Once there, he would lend his talents to stage productions that would play before Broadway audiences prior to heading out on the road.

Since his Delaware days, Minnelli’s “secret campaign” had involved bundling up his art books and making his way to New York. And now, not only had that long-cherished dream materialized, but, as Vincente recalled, “It was everything I expected it to be.”15 Not only was New York a neon-drenched utopia, but the city seemed to operate on the same kind of nervous energy that Vincente did. Only one thing was lacking to make the scenario perfect: permanent residency. After his initial visits, Minnelli had made up his mind that at the earliest opportunity, he would move to Manhattan. And as fate would have it, Balaban and Katz had the very same notion. If Vincente wanted to remain in their employ, he would have to relocate to New York. So, Minnelli packed his bags.
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A Glorious  Garden of Wonders


IT WAS THE STUFF of countless Mickey Rooney-Judy Garland musicals: A wide-eyed kid with loads of talent and insane ambition making the leap from his family’s small-time theatricals to The Great White Way. Milking applause instead of milking a cow.1 Though at the moment Minnelli arrived in New York in the early ’30s, the great metropolis seemed like a movie set that was still under construction. They had just taken the wraps off of the Empire State Building. Three square blocks were being leveled to make way for John D. Rockefeller Jr.’s Radio City center, and Mrs. Harry Payne Whitney was announcing plans for a new museum devoted exclusively to American art.

And at the outset of the Great Depression, Broadway was offering, for those who could afford a ticket, escapist fantasy in the form of extravagant musical revues. The more lavish the production, the better. There was the Ziegfeld Follies, Earl Carroll’s Vanities, and George White’s Scandals. These eye-popping extravaganzas offered over-the-top opulence, “lewder than nude” showgirls, and grand spectacle—everything audiences needed to forget about the harsh realities of the world out there, where over 4 million people were unemployed.

There was theater. And then there was street theater. Like countless artists both before and after him, Vincente had naturally gravitated to Greenwich Village. Even in those days, the parade of eccentrics and oddballs wandering around were often more entertaining than any of the legitimate attractions offered in Times Square. The Village was not only a haven for artists, radicals, and self-styled bohemians but had long ago established itself as America’s preeminent gay mecca. In the Village, the unorthodox was the  norm and flamboyance flourished. Here, even more so than Chicago, was a dramatically heightened environment that nearly mirrored Vincente’s colorful inner world.

Minnelli’s first residence in the city was, as he described it, “a tiny Greenwich Village nest, sublet from vagabond-dancer Jacques Cartier.”2 The address was 89 Bedford Street, two blocks off of the better-known Christopher Street. According to census records from 1930, Vincente lived alone in the one-room apartment and was paying the landlord $65 a month for rent, more than any other occupant in the building. Apparently it was around this time that Minnelli began playing with the facts about his age: He informed an unsuspecting census taker that he was twenty-four years old when he was actually twenty-seven.3


The personal transformation that had begun in Chicago continued in New York. Inspired by his surroundings, Minnelli went full tilt Village artiste. He began sporting a long coat and a flat black hat with a wide brim. The look was memorably described by one observer as “a triumphant marriage of Harlem and the Left Bank.” It may have been around this time that Vincente began wearing make-up as well. A touch of eyeliner. A trace of lipstick. As he had grown up advising the actors in his father’s troupe on how to paint their faces, this probably seemed perfectly natural to him. Besides, why should cosmetic enhancement be reserved for center stage? Although the youthful Minnelli had once been described as “quite handsome in an almost Mongoloid way,” Vincente was all too aware of the fact that he had not been blessed with matinee-idol good looks. So why not indulge in a bit of exterior decorating? After all, he had told the census taker that he was “actively employed as an independent artist.” So why not look the part?4


As for the “actively employed,” he was constantly in demand, creating exquisite costumes for the Paramount-Publix circuit and “designing the equivalent of a Broadway show every week.”5 And of course, there was no end of fascinating people to meet both in and out of the theater.

One of Vincente’s earliest champions was an indefatigable young woman named Eleanor Lambert. Although not yet the extraordinarily influential force in the fashion world that she would later become, Lambert had already developed an unerring eye for spotting legitimate talent. She immediately recognized something unique and unusually beautiful about Minnelli’s ever-expanding portfolio.

“She was kind of a talent spotter,” says Lambert’s son William Berkson:I witnessed this probably all of my life with her. . . . People would come to her office or they would come at tea time. Somebody’s always got . . . something  . In the later days it would be a guy with a new line of bridal outfits. In the old days, it was the latest designer. The enthusiasm and the energy she had went beyond business. In other words, a lot of what she was offering was just free advice. She really just seemed to delight in finding the next big thing. . . . So, a lot of what she did was basically say, “Sit right here. You better get to know me because I can see that you’re a comer and I can clue you in.”6





Lambert saw to it that Minnelli met all the right people.

Another who was taken with Vincente’s artistic abilities was Joseph Monet, editor of the notorious Van Rees Press. Monet hired Minnelli to illustrate a new edition of the quasi-erotic Casanova’s Memoirs in a manner reminiscent of English surrealist Aubrey Beardsley. Vincente’s art nouveau- style drawings of androgynous figures engaged in boudoir shenanigans of every description made clear what the Venetian adventurer’s recollections only hinted at.

[image: 015]

JUST AS HE HAD FOR DELAWARE’S movie house years earlier, Vincente would design the curtain for the ninth edition of Earl Carroll’s Vanities. Unlike the modest drape at The Strand, Carroll’s curtain, at 300 feet wide, was on the grandest of grand scales, and it would be on full view before a seen-it-all Broadway audience. The curtain would also serve as the centerpiece of Carroll’s gleaming new art deco theater. Inspired by the exquisite (and exquisitely expensive) curtains Erté had designed for the Folies-Bergère, Vincente was determined to achieve a similarly stunning effect—though at a fraction of the cost. Rising to the challenge, Minnelli devised a visual stunner: a “living” curtain in absinthe green chiffon with silver embroidery that featured “strategically placed openings” in the fabric through which Carroll’s comely showgirls could insert arms, legs, or other parts of their anatomies: Peek-a-boo. The effect was dazzling.

Although critic Robert Benchley would dismiss “the definitely Negroid sense of color,” the theatrical community was abuzz over Minnelli’s audacious opulence. Vincente’s ability to produce sumptuous, eye-catching effects on a very thin dime had not been lost on budget-conscious Earl Carroll. The impresario promoted Minnelli to scenic and costumer designer for the 1932 installment of the Vanities.

Carroll would also be responsible for Minnelli’s first appearance on film. In a 1933 promotional short entitled Costuming the Vanities, Carroll and his bashful costume designer are seen reviewing wardrobe sketches for star Beryl  Wallace (who would later become the showman’s wife). While Carroll looks directly at the camera, Minnelli does everything to avoid it. His shyness is palpable. It appeared that there was more than a little bit of Lester left in suave sophisticate Vincente Minnelli after all.

While the Vanities was still on the boards, Vincente was summoned to assist glamorous Grace Moore, the first in a glittering line of great lady stars in his life. “The Tennessee Nightingale” (as Moore was nicknamed) had triumphed in the Metropolitan Opera’s production of La Bohème four years earlier. Now Karl Millocker’s comic operetta, The DuBarry, was being prepared for Moore and she had personally requested twenty-nine-year-old Minnelli as the art director, hopeful that he could do for her what he had done for Earl Carroll and his curtain. Similar to the type of exacting star Vincente would encounter some forty years later when he worked with Barbra Streisand, Moore was legitimately talented, equipped with a mercurial temperament, and had very “definite ideas about what was seemly for her,” Minnelli recalled decades after their uneasy collaboration.7


Moore’s ideas about the way she should be presented on stage clashed with many of Minnelli’s most inventive concepts. When Vincente proposed that Moore wear a brief kimono-style drape in a brothel sequence, the star huffed and stormed out. Moore’s coach ride to the palace of Louis XV had been imaginatively conceived by Minnelli so that that the audience could glimpse the rear of the coach and its rotating wheel through the carriage’s back window, but when Minnelli suggested that stagehands rock the coach back and forth to complete the illusion, Moore complained that she was queasy and nixed the idea. To make matters worse, the notoriously absent-minded Minnelli sent the leading lady a congratulatory telegram on opening night—only it was addressed to popular singer Florence Moore. The star was not amused, and she was probably even less so when she read Brooks Atkinson’s review of The DuBarry, which began by praising Minnelli’s “richness of color and sweep of line” before getting around to her performance.

Having established himself as one of the most visually inventive talents on Broadway, Minnelli was made a set designer by his bosses at Paramount. Not long after the promotion, Paramount shifted its stage-show operations to Astoria, Long Island, where the East Coast division of Paramount Pictures was headquartered. No sooner had Minnelli been promoted than Paramount decided to drop its costly stage shows in favor of big band appearances.

The career-driven workhorse was suddenly out of a job. Though, as it turned out, not for very long. After spending only a couple of months among the ranks of the unemployed, Vincente received a call from the newly opened  Radio City Music Hall. Was he interested in a position as the Music Hall’s chief costume designer? The offer couldn’t have come at a better time for Minnelli. And without question, “The Showplace of the Nation” needed all the help it could get.

On December 27, 1932, when Radio City had opened its doors, the response from the press and public alike had been positively underwhelming. Rather than presenting a bold, modern attraction to complement the Music Hall’s gleaming art deco design, the inaugural production staged by Robert Edmond Jones proved to be a fustily old-fashioned affair—a virtual funeral rite for vaudeville, complete with Fraulein Vera Schwarz and the Flying Wallendas. A catastrophe in nineteen acts, the entire performance had been conceived and supervised by Samuel “Roxy” Rothafel, Radio City’s director general. The day after the disastrous opening, Brooks Atkinson took Rothafel to task in the New York Times: “The truth seems to be that maestro Roxy, the celebrated entrepreneur of Radio City, has opened his caravansary with an entertainment, which on the whole, does not provoke much enthusiasm.”8


It was resoundingly clear to the management that something drastic had to be done before Radio City went under quicker than the Lusitania. While the Music Hall’s theaters were temporarily closed, no end of changes took place. Robert Edmond Jones resigned, as did costume designer James Reynolds. Emergency meetings were called. Roxy and company would need to chart an entirely new course.

A mix of movies and live stage spectacles had proven to be a winning combination for Minnelli’s former employer, Balaban and Katz. Other theater chains had found success with this varied approach as well. So it came as no surprise when Radio City announced that it was adopting the stage and screen format. When it reopened on January 11, 1933, Radio City’s revamped program included a feature film (Frank Capra’s The Bitter Tea of General Yen) and a considerably shortened stage show. This would prove to be a winning formula. “From January 1933 until it closed as a movie house, Radio City Music Hall invariably, inflexibly, and with no exception, always changed its show on Thursday,” says historian Miles Krueger. “Every single week there were new sets, new costumes, new ballets, new choral numbers. They had a men’s chorus and visiting comedians and acrobats and God knows what. Everything for about 35 cents. That’s how they could fill 7,000 seats.”9


While the Music Hall’s format was being overhauled, Radio City’s management decided that an entirely new production staff was needed to breathe some life into what was supposed to be the “live” portion of the bill. Someone  remembered Minnelli’s striking contributions to the Earl Carroll extravaganzas, and by February 1933 Vincente was in place as Radio City’s chief costume designer.

Minnelli would be working closely with Roxy Rothafel, a former marine drill sergeant. As Vincente would soon discover, dealing with Roxy was a major occupational hazard. Like virtually everyone under Rothafel’s command, Minnelli found the irascible impresario “obstreperous and fault-finding.”10  This was certainly the case with art director Clark Robinson, who threw in the towel after yet another heated exchange with the impossible-to-please Rothafel. In terms of finding an immediate replacement for Robinson, Roxy didn’t have to look too far.

Although he was still as wet as the Music Hall’s walls, Minnelli was now Radio City’s new art director—this in addition to his already overwhelming costuming duties. It was a head-swelling double dose of responsibility—though almost immediately, Vincente would find himself cut down to size. Roxy, an equal opportunity put-down artist, would make the mild-mannered, soft-spoken Minnelli his whipping boy of choice. As Vincente recalled, “Instead of doing the job of three men, I would now be doing the job of six . . . and getting a proportionally larger share of Roxy’s sarcasms.”11


In July 1933, Minnelli was handed his first assignment as art director, and it would call upon every ounce of his artistic ingenuity to fill the role. Vincente’s training under Balaban and Katz would prove invaluable as he conjured up such sumptuous set pieces as a “Water Lily” ballet, a Cuban-themed sketch (complete with a pair of mammoth fighting cocks), and a Parisian dress boutique in which the shapely “Roxyettes” would strut their stuff—all of it crammed into fifty minutes. Within a matter of days, Minnelli would be expected to whip up another batch of equally imaginative settings and a dazzling array of costumes. It was Vincente’s designs for December’s “Scheherzade Suite” (complete with Persian rugs and elephants) that made both the New York Times and Roxy take notice. “You know, I’ve been picking on this fellow,” Rothafel admitted to his beleaguered staff. “All that picking brought fine results. . . . He’s an artist.”12


No sooner had his commanding officer tossed Minnelli a bit of long-overdue praise than Rothafel was sent packing. The management had more than likely received one too many complaints regarding Roxy’s take-no-prisoners tactics. Although the ulcer-inducing confrontations with Roxy were over, the nonstop work and continual sleep deprivation were still very much a part of Vincente’s exhaustively paced existence. He fought off fatigue with gallons of black coffee. Racing to keep up with the grueling production schedule, the hourly backstage dramas, and the constant demands of everyone around him, Minnelli had precious little time to claim as his own: “I’d stay up all night and light the new show, then we’d start planning the next one at lunch the following day.”13
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